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play, in business, they got along splendidly; 

more than can be said for most other 

Russian-foreign combinations. 

There were many examples of this fact. For 

instance, the British were pouring millions of 

pounds sterling worth of supplies into South 

Russia to support Denikin; in fact, they were 

almost the entire support of the Denikin effort. 

There was a large British Mission, political and 

military, with Denikin, and the hundreds of 

British officers were splendid fellows--! have 

rarely seen a finer lot of soldiermen. But 

still, save in exceptional cases, they never 

along at all well with the seemed to get 

Russians. This is not the fault of either the 

British or the Russians; it is merely a fact. 

Nor were the French particularly successful 

with the Russians. Although many more Russians 

spoke French than spoke English, one rarely saw 

French and Russians together--they had little in 

common. Next to Americans, Italians mixed with 

Russians better than anyone else, although they 

were doing nothing for Denikin and were even 

strongly suspected of trafficking with the 

Bosheviki. Yet Russians found them agreeable and 

sympathetic, always on excellent terms with all 
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classes. They liked Russians and in turn were 

liked. 

This question of two races getting on together 

does not always have a logical explanation. or 

perhaps the logic is fundamental and not on the 

surface. We do not always like the people who do 

the most for us. although we usually like those 

who like us. In our own case. the attitude of~my 

chief. Admiral McCully. had a great deal to do 

with the Russian attitude toward us. At a time 

when most other people were impressing the 

Russians with their own particular importance 

and the absolute necessity that the Russians 

provide them with special quarters. private 

cars. and goodness knows what. Admiral McCully 

was busy explaining to the Russians that he 

himself was of no importance whatever. with no 

power or influence. and was only there to see 

what was going on simply because Americans were 

very much interested in the Russians and the 

future of Russia; as for quarters. he insisted 

that as in the towns the people were crowded at 

the rate of about one family per room. we not 

only needed no more room than the Russians. but 

under no conditions would we accept more. The 

result was no matter how crowded the Russians 



-163-

they were always trying to do ror us. Month 

after month we jammed ourselves into quarters 

our orderlies considered far beneath their 

dignity. The Admiral ate tin~ed corned-beer. 

which he had brought along. simply because he 

felt it was not playing the game to buy rood at 

the market when it was scarce. even though the 

rate or exchange would have made it possible for 

us to buy the whole market for nothing had we 

cared to. 

General Denikin proved to have as much charm 

as good looks. which is 

is a very handsome man. 

no faint praise. ror he 

and indeed looked the 

part or the courageous leader he was. He is 

typical Russian--shaved head. full beard. long 

flowing mustaches. broad or shoulder. broader or 

waist. natural. cheerful. and friendly; and with 

it all. dignified and without the slightest 

trace or snobbery, or what we cal 1 "side." His 

dominant characteristics were honesty. 

sincerity. and obstinancy. He seemed undismayed 

by defeat. and showed every confidence in his 

eventual success. but my impression was definite 

that he was neither brilliant nor receptive to 

new ideas. and much less a creator or ideas. He 

was an honest man and a patriot. and he was 
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reputed to be a good soldier, but he certainly 

was not a great leader. In the months that 

:followed, when I saw alot o:f him, these 

impressions became convictions. 

I was worried when I saw his beauti:ful 

sweeping mustaches with every hair so per:fectly 

and exquisitely trained in place; I revolted at 

the thought o:f the enormous cost in time and 

e:f:fort; it seemed to indicate a lack o:f sense o:f 

proportion in anyone who, during such a crisis, 

would be willing to spend that amount o:f time on 

mustaches. However, I dare say, :fine mustaches 

and that sort o:f thing are very important to a 

Russian General, no small part o:f whose stock in 

trade is swank and swashbuckling; so it may have 

been worth it. 

I was much interested in General Denikin's 

entourage. Like the General himself', his 

ministers were :force:ful men and patriots 

perhaps, and there were good soldiers on his 

sta:f:f. but all had one :fundamental in common. 

Not one o:f them realized there had been a 

revolution in Russia--a revolution which had 

a:f:fected the thought o:f the people no less than 

it had a:f:fected things political. These generals 

did understand, and very thoroughly, that there 
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had been some sort of disturbance, a violent one 

to be sure, that they themselves had lost their 

estates, that everything was going to rack and 

ruin in Russia, and certain evil beasts called 

Bolsheviki had to be wiped out before they could 

ever get back their estates and live the fine 

old life of the Imperial days. Yet I doubt a 

single one of them knew there had been a real 

revolution; and I doubt, too, whether any of 

them could realize it. I never got from them 

the faintest trace of any idea broader than the 

thought that the Bolsheviki had to be smashed 

somehow or other, and the good old days would 

automatically come back. [21] 
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CHAPTER FOUR 

THE R I GHT PLACE 

ODESSA .. RUSSIA 

FEBRUARY .. 1920 
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On 7 February 1820, McCully and Koehler sailed for 

Odessa aboard the U.S. destroyer Biddle. That same day, 

on the Siberian front, Admiral Kolchak, the "Supreme 

Ruler or All the Russi as, " as he had dubbed himself, 

surrendered to the advancing Bolsheviks. After a long 

interrogation, the Admiral was placed in front or a firing 

squad: a few minutes later his body was pushed through a 

hole in the icy Angara River. 

Denikin's situation, so recently spectacular, was nearly 

as hopeless as that or the late "Supreme Ruler." In early 

February, the White armies were in headlong retreat. En 

route to Odessa, McCully received word that the city had 

fallen to the Bolsheviks on 8 February. Denikin's 

commanding officer in Odessa, General Schilling, had 

shamelessly abandoned the 

right. 

After hearing this news, 

city to the Reds without a 

McCully and Koehler grimly 

sailed on, anchoring in Odessa harbor on 10 February .. 

Chaos reigned on the quay. The citizens or Odessa were 

attempting to board any ship that could deliver them from 

the advancing Reds. McCully's diary noted that they 

"picked up three praying women on end or pier." [1] 

Amid this storm, Koehler went ashore, into the now 

Bolshevik-occupied city, alone and unarmed. His report on 
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his meeting with 24-year-old Red Army commander I.P. 

Uborevich is an epic of Naval Intelligence. [2] 

Odessa. Russ·i a 
10 February 1920 

FROM: Lieut.-Comdr. Hugo W. Koehler, U.S. Navy 
TO: Rear Admiral N.A. McCully, U.S. Navy 

SUBJECT: Report of interview with Bolshevik 
Commander-in-Chief in Odessa relative to safety 
of American citizens there. 

In accordance with your instructions, I landed 

at Odessa lighthouse at about 10:30 a.m .. 10 

Feb. 1920, and immediately began negotiations 

with the lighthouse keeper with a view to 

persuading him to go to the town authorities, or 

at least to the nearest outpost of Red_ troops, 

with my request that I be allowed to communicate 

with the commander of the forces of occupation 

concerning the safety of three or four American 

citizens believed still to be in town. The 

lighthouse keeper was loath to go, as he had not 

been in town ror four days, did not know what 

was going on there, and was fearful or what was 

happening, but he was finally persuaded to carry 

my request to the nearest Red post--Just at the 

end of the mole and immediately under the guns 

or the [destroyer] U.S.S. Talbot. About halr an 
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hour later he returned with word that the 

captain of' the Red guard there would talk to me, 

and if' it seemed advisable would furnish me with 

a guard as f'ar as the headquarters of' his· 

immediate superior. 

Arriving at this f'irst post I met a very 

swanky of'f'icer in Red hussar breeches, high 

hussar boots, and a British overcoat festooned 

with bows of' red ribbon on the right breast and 

shoulder, and an enormous white Cossack f'ur cap. 

I e:xplained my mission to him, and af'ter some 

hesitation and consultation with other of'f'icers 

he agreed to take me to the battalion commander. 

We then entered a house nearby to await the 

arrival of' the automobile which he said he had 

ordered. Some thirty men were quartered in this 

small house, in addition to the large family 

which ordinarily occupies it, and the disorder 

and f'ilth were extravagant even f'or Russia under 

the present conditions. 

During the conversation a Commissar entered 

and immediately took part by asking me pointedly 

what the men-of'-war were doing in the harbor, 

and why they had f'ired on the Bolshevik troops. 

I replied they were concerned with the 

evacuation of' refugees, and understood the 
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reason they had fired was that prior to the 

entry or the regular Red forces the town had 

been f'ull or marauders and thieves. He then 

continued his questions--all more or less or the 

same tenor--and then branched out f'or himself' in 

a long recital of' the outrages perpetrated by 

Denikin's Army. A number of' other of'f'icers 

joined the group, and alternately fired 

questions at me and argued among themselves. 

Their attitude towards me was neither 

particularly hostile nor friendly. 

After waiting some time, I e:xplained that if' 

agreeable, I would prefer to walk rather than 

wait f'or the automobile, because I wished to 

despatch my business as soon as possible and 

because I would enjoy the exercise. This created 

some merriment; I was told they were all sick of' 

walking, had been doing nothing else f'or rive 

months. They e:xplained that during the first 

part or the time they had been retreating before 

Denikin, but that at Orel the retreat had been 

suddenly interrupted by their taking up the 

advance themselves. They added that the advance 

had been even more unpleasant than the retreat 

because it had been more rapid. Shortly 

afterwards, when they mentioned all was normal 
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in town, I suggested if we started out on root 

we would probably be able to get a droshky 

before long, and thus finally persuaded them to 

start. I was accompanied by a Commissar, an 

officer, and a motley squad that followed in the 

rear. Their complaints about being root-sore 

were evidently not imaginary, for I noticed that 

most or my companions hobbled and stumbled as if 

their feet were in bad condition. At this point 

they asked why it was that the American Red 

Cross, supposedly neutral, helped only Denikin's 

Army: they said their sufferings from typhus 

were worse than those or the Denikin forces, and 

they had no medicines whatever. Another 

Commissar now joined us, a very intelligent, 

earnest, and forcible-looking man, who in 

mentioning the Denikin Army, commented that 

their greatest mistake had been that in their 

advance they robbed and plundered peasants, who 

were now so hostile that the advance or the Red 

Army had been easy. His comrade then rambled on 

outrages 

example, 

perpetrated by Denikin's Army: :f'or 

cutting out or the tongues of' some 

4,000 soldiers or the Red forces, chopping off 

hands or an even greater number, lining the 

streets of' a certain village with rows or men 
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strung up on telegraph wires, etc., etc., many 

or the stories bearing a striking resemblance to 

the stories of German outrages in Belgium 

current not long ago (including the famous story· 

or the well full or baby hands.) This 

Commissar went on to say he was sick or war, so 

were all the others; he was righting because 

Denikin's Army killed his wife and child, but, 

so far as he was concerned, one army was just 

like another; he would just as soon belong to 

Denikin's Army if they would not kill him and 

really meant peace and would allow a man to go 

back to his house and farm. He continued on the 

same strain for some time, and his comrades 

apparently all agreed with him, for several 

interrupted him with their own accounts of how 

really sick they were or war, and nothing 

mattered if only they would have peace. After a 

walk or about a mile from the docks towards the 

center or the city, during which time I saw 

hardly any soldiers, we arrived at Bolshevik 

headquarters, and from there proceeded to the 

headquarters or the regiment guarding the port. 

Upon explaining my business to the Colonel in 

command, he agreed to proceed with me to 

division headquarters. This regimental commander 
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was a General--a quiet, well-mannered man of' 

about 34, evidently a former of'f'icer; his 

bearing was unmistakably not that of' the new 

school and he still wore the old uniform, though 

without the shoulder straps. He was the only one 

of' the higher of'f'icers I met who did not speak 

either French or German; but I never quite 

believed he did not understand all three, and 

guarded myself' accordingly. German was more 

useful than French, f'or all the Commissars and 

many higher of'f'icers spoke it fluently. No 

Commissars spoke French. The division commander 

was ... not over 34 years old, very quick and 

energetic in speech and manner, and has a harsh 

and unpleasant voice. But he has a certain f'orce 

in bearing, and appears the type of' man one 

would not like to meet in a lonely place on a 

dark night. However, he received me pleasantly. 

While we were talking he excused himself' to go 

out to greet the Commander-in-Chief' Just then 

arriving, and in a f'ew moments returned with 

General Uborevitch, who entered with much 

swagger and greeted me in a rather 

hail-fellow-well-met style. [3] I Judge he is 

not more than 28, and in appearance is hardly 

more than 23 or 24. Excepting his youth, he came 
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close to usual ideas of' a Bolshevik leader: 

small, beady, close set eyes, cruel lips, alert 

manner, a mind sharp as a whip, quick to seize 

an advantage, vain, with a braggadoccio and 

f'lippant manner of' talking and not a trace of' 

intellectuality in f'ace or expression. Perhaps 

his most definite characteristic was of' 

unscrupulousness and the impression he 

utter 

would 

stop at nothing. His staf'f' were all older than 

himself', and of' widely dif'f'ering types--the most 

striking being the Commissar with the f'igure of' 

a boiler-maker but a very weak f'ace .... I was 

surprised at the pride which all who could do so 

took in announcing they had been of'f'icers under 

the old regime. The Chief'-of'-Sta:f:f never 

disagreed with the Commander-in-Chief', but 

several times later in the conversation 

expressed views diametrically opposite to those 

previously 

invariably 

expressed 

the 

by 

more 

Commander-in-Chief' told me he 

his chief', and 

sensible. The 

had been on the 

Archangel front and was well and f'avorably (sic) 

known there to the Allies, though at that time 

had been only a Colonel. I gathered f'rom the 

sinister laugh of' his colleagues that his record 

is not savoury. No of'f'icers wore insignia of any 
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kind, except a red star of' cloth or metal on 

their caps, and occasionally festoons of' red 

The ribbon on the breast and shoulder. 

Commander-in-Chief' had a single medal on his 

breast, a red enamel design made of' a star and 

f'lag with inlaid silver lettering--the Soviet 

equivalent or the Cross or St. George, he told 

me. [4] 

I stated my errand, namely, I understood there 

were three or four American citizens still in 

Odessa, and I would like to communicate with ' 

them, and, if' they were in danger and it was 

agreeable to the Commander-in-Chier, to take 

them to the ship. He replied he would let me 

know whether this could be done upon receipt or 

instructions f'rom Moscow, and asked whether I 

had any other business to transact. I answered 

no, I was concerned only with the safety or 

American citizens, but if' he wished to tell me 

anything or his position in Odessa, and his aims 

and purposes there, I would make a report to my 

superiors. He stated he had come f'rom Moscow, 

f'rom the heart of' Russia, to clear the borders 

or Russia of' the bandits of' Denikin's Army, who 

were under the protection of' England, and "a 

little bit also" ("ein bischen auch") or 
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America. He added that for the moment I was his 

guest, and would be treated accordingly; nor 

would I be taken as a hostage though he knew 

there were enemies of the Bolsheviks--spies and 

men who had committed outrages against Red 

forces--who were out in the harbor on ships 

sheltering behind the guns of the Allied 

Squadron. He asked why armored ships were in the 

harbor, when, according to the new treaty 

between Russia and the Allies, ships were to 

come only for purposes of trade. I answered I 

could speak accurately only concerning the 

American destroyer, in Odessa solely for the 

purposes of securing the safety of American 

citizens and aiding the evacuation of refugees 

if necessary. Upon his repeating the question 

concerning purposes of British men-of-war in 

harbor, I answered I understood their purposes 

were similar but I could not speak for them. He 

asked pointedly why, if these ships were 

interested only in safety of refugees, they 

fired on Red forces. I answered there had been 

no firing since we had been in port so I could 

not answer definitely, but I understood this 

firing previous to our arrival had been because 

there were at that time no regularly organized 
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forces in town, and the town was consequently 

terrorized by bandits and marauders. He then got 

out a map, pointed to the position of Odessa and 

then to another location some six or seven miles· 

away, and said it seemed evident there must have 

been some extraordinarily bad shooting, since, 

while aiming at marauders in Odessa city, shots 

had accidentally hit Bolshevik forces some seven 

miles away and 

direction! I was, 

in an entirely 

of course, more or 

different 

less at a 

loss for a rejoinder, so I simply reminded him 

of my previous statement that I would tell him 

accurately only what concerned Americans and the 

American ship, and no firing had taken place 

since our arrival. He added whoever had directed 

those shots had information about Red movments, 

and numerous Red soldiers had been killed and 

their advance delayed. He asked what was the 

squadron here with regard position of the naval 

to Denikin's Army. I replied again I could 

answer only for the American ship, and so far as 

the military situation went we had no connection 

whatever with Denikin. He appeared to doubt 

this, and I then added that although we had had 

forces at Archangel they had been withdrawn, and 

I understood that our forces along the Siberian 
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railway were also being withdrawn. He commented 

that this was a timely move, ror Admiral Kolchak 

had been taken prisoner, and, with his gold, was 

being shipped to Moscow. He asked whether there· 

was a destroyer or Denikin's Army or any Army 

rorce in the harbor. I answered I did not know. 

He stated there was--a Denikin destroyer had 

come in during the night. He asked whether we 

wished to take any rurther rerugees out or town. 

I answered we would like to take such American 

citizens as would like to leave. He replied he 

would have to rerer the question to Moscow, and 

would let me know the answer in three days. 

A Commissar, listening all along, joined in 

and asked what I thought, what America thought, 

about the Bolshevik victories. I answered+. d.i,.d 

not know American opinion at present, but my own 

impression was that the recent Bolshevik advance 

was an example or weakness or Denikin's Army 

than a test or strength or the Bolshevik Army. 

No one made any comment on this reply, and I 

became derinitely or the impression that at 

heart they agreed. In the discussion which 

roll owed, the Commander-in-Chier stated 

boastrully that the Reds now had an Army or more 

than 4,000,000 and when Russia was thoroughly 
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organized they would rear no one--not England, 

nor America, nor the whole world .... He brought 

the conversation back to the men-of-war in port, 

and asked why they were remaining 

American 

there. I 

replied so far as the ship was 

concerned we were interested only in the safety 

or our citizens. He replied by asking me please 

to deliver a message to the British man-or-war, 

that if they did not leave port within three 

days' time, he would bombard them from shore and 

bomb them by aeroplane. I did not undertake to 

deliver this message, and made no comment 

whatever concerning it. I ·again asked whether it 

would be agreeable to him to allow me to 

communicate with the Americans in town. He had 

previously stated he would have to refer the 

question to Moscow, but he was now in a more 

agreeable mood, for he said he had no objections 

to my seeing them, but could not give me an 

answer until tomorrow whether they would be 

allowed to leave the town, that is, his reply 

would depend 

asked what 

on instructions from Moscow. I 

assurances I could give these 

Americans concerning their safety in the 

meantime. He replied they would be safe, under 

no circumstances would anyone except spies or 
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robbers be shot. he intended to restore order. 

and the town was already quiet. I then asked 

him. categorically. whether he considered 

himself' su:f:ficiently in control o:f the town to· 

be able to guarantee the saf'ety o:f our citizens. 

and whether he would do so. He answered in the 

a:f:f i rmat i ve in both cases. I asked whether I 

might proceed to get in touch with the 

Americans. as I was anxious to return to my ship 

as soon as possible. He agreed, but stated that 

a photographer had just come up, and would like 

very much to have our picture. I answered I did 

not :feel I could as photographers 

invariably take a long time. and I would have to 

start out at once to locate Americans in town as 

I anticipated some di:f:ficulty rinding them. He 

repeated the picture would take only a moment. 

but nevertheless I managed to avoid it. He had 

previously o:ff'ered me his motor car, and when I 

now started out he said the motor car was not 

yet ready but would be in about a quarter o:f an 

hour. I answered I would be glad to walk; but he 

would not have this, 

to the motor car. I 

and himself' accompanied me 

noted while we were waiting 

f'or the motor two photographers were busy taking 

snapshots. I was annoyed, though there was 
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nothing to do but sit on my annoyance; but I 

suspect I took mysel:f too seriously :for I 

noticed later I was never snapped when alone, 

though I was snapped twice again with Hi~ 

Excellency. Later I learned he had a special 

weakness :for photographs o:f himsel:f. 

Accompanied by a General, an orderly, and a 

guard, I went :first to the address o:f Mrs. Eli 

Keyser, and a:fter some di:f:ficulty located her. 

She stated she was an American citizen, born in 

England but married to an American, and all her 

:family were Americans in America. She had been 

in Russia three years, practically the entire 

time in Odessa, her husband having died about a 

year and a hal:f ago. She is a concert singer, 

but appears a quite respectable woman. I 

repeated the result o:f my interview with the 

Commander-in-Chie:f, and told her it appeared 

likely arrangements could be made to take her 

o:f:f to the ship, and in the meantime the 

Commander-in-Chie:f assured me she would be sa:fe. 

She said she would like to leave i:f she could go 

direct to America. But, rather than go to 

Constantinople, or to any place other than 

directly to America, she would prefer to stay in 

Odessa i:f she would not be killed. She added she 

-
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spoke Russian as well as she did English, and 

could probably earn her 

than in any other place 

living better in Odessa 

other than America. She 

then told me about her various troubles, her 

consumptive husband, etc., and in doing so 

became quite hysterical, but ended by saying if 

she were not in danger in Odessa she would 

rather remain there. I asked her if she had 

sufficient money, and said I would be glad to 

give her 

she was 

whatever was 

alright, she 

necessary. She answered 

had some jewels, and 

besides God had given her a great gift and she 

could sing very well and had no trouble earning 

her living. On leaving I spoke to a Russian 

woman who lives with her, and asked about her 

condition. This woman said that she was a very 

courageous woman, but at the moment she had no 

money, although she doubtless would be able to 

earn some as soon as conditions were better. 

Accordingly I left money with this Russian 

woman, with the understanding that it would used 

for Mrs. Keyser. 

I then went to addresses given for Mr. Tate 

and Mr. Barnet _Young, but at- both places was 

told that they had left some days ago, and had 

left no address. I then looked up Mr. Rubin, at 
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his address, and on not rinding him there went 

to the Former American and English Red Cross 

Headquarters, and thence to 

Cross Headquarters, where I 

Rubin had been there two 

the Russian Red 

was told that Mr.· 

days previously· to 

volunteer his services to the Bolsheviks, and, 

in ract, had been the rirst to do so. His 

present whereabouts were not known, but he was 

supposed to be somewhere in town. From all that 

can be learned Mr. Rubin is strongly suspected 

or pro-Bolshevik leanings.... [5] 

I was then taken back to Headquarters or the 

Red Commander-in-Chier, and again was pressed to 

have my picture taken, in such a way it was 

impossible to avoid the invitation. I had 

previously been invited to dinner, but had been 

able to decline on the plea or being pressed ror 

time, but now, my business having been Finished, 

I was asked to have tea while awaiting the motor 

car being made ready ror me. It was not possible 

to decline again, so I accepted with the best 

grace possible. Tea, however, proved more or 

less a supper, but as it was becoming late I 

lert on the plea the darkness would make it very 

dangerous ror my boat to get in to me. I was 

escorted out with marked Friendliness; as I lert 

I 
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the Commander-in-Chier told me he would allow me 

to take out the Americans to the ship. 

Approaching darkness, and the ract it would 

surely take them some time to get ready to· 

leave, I -made no attempt to get them that night, 

and with a view to making the best or the 

situation, I added that ir he assured me he 

could and would protect them, I had no desire to 

take them out at that time. 

I was impressed that all the orricers I saw 

were Russians; in ract, I saw not a single Jew. 

I was told, however, that shortly a group or 

administrators would arrive, which I dare say, 

means Jews are rlocking in. I was also impressed 

that at supper none or the orricers had wine or 

spirits or any kind, although a few had beer, 

but little or that. Enroute to town in the 

morning I noticed a Commissar, who having noted 

the bulging pocket or a passing soldier, seized 

the bottle or Vodka, smashed it on the pavement, 

and soundly berated the man. 

I entered two rood shops and although there 

was not a great abundance or supplies, both 

shops had customers buying rood. All money is 

current: Soviet, Romanov, Kerensky, even Denikin 

Army money, in accordance with the decree to the 
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shopkeepers are required to accept 

of' Russian money tendered them. The 

making this money current is an 

and simple way of' winning over 

peasants and shopkeepers, who of' course have 

laid in stores of' Denikin money, and whose only 

allegiance to Denikin is the desire to give 

their money some value. 

Streets of' the town were in deplorable 

condition. Numerous dead horses and dogs were 

lying about, but I saw no human bodies, although 

we met a cortege of' some f'ive or six carts, 

which, I was 

pick up all 

told, had gone around the city to 

bodies in the streets. Numerous 

windows were broken, but I saw at least six 

glasiers at work mending them, and other than 

this there were no signs of' rioting, f'or bullet 

scars on windows seemed old. I covered at least 

ten miles of' street and the main part 

Americans 

of' the 

town, f'or :fortunately the I was 

endeavoring to locate lived in widely separated 

quarters of' the town, so I was able to go 

practically everywhere I wished. I saw no 

crowds, nor were_ streets deserted, although 

traf':fic was less than one would expect in a city 

the size of' Odessa. 

-



-190-

I was particularly on the lookout for signs or 

German influence, German officers or munitions, 

any trace or German activity, but railed to 

discover anything I could put my ringer on as in 

any way German. Many officers carried Austrian 

Mauser pistols. The men seemed well-clothed, and 

their boots - were fair for the most part, but 

there seemed to be a great scarcity or gloves, 

even amongst officers. Many officers went about 

bare-handed, certainly not from choice. I noted 

numerous English uniforms, and the orderly or 

one or the Generals who escorted me had an 

American overcoat which he described to me as 

Polish. 

One or the Commissars asked why Denikin's Army 

destroyed so many railroad cars on leaving, for 

though in the early days the Reds had destroyed 

the fittings or some or the cars, it was their 

principle never to destroy railroad cars, 

bridges, and things necessary for the country. 

The same Commissar asked when I thought America 

would go Bolshevik. I answered "Never. 11 He 

smiled and added, perhaps not now, and never in 

the same way Russia was Bolshevik, because 

Americans were different and more educated, but 

in fifteen or twenty years the whole world would 

-
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be Bolshevik. because the greatest principle in 

the world was "All ror All. " He went on to say 

that because some people work with their brains 

and others work with their arms. there was no 

reason why the rormer should receive more than 

the latter. f'or they both were doing the same 

thing--both were by their work paying the price 

of' their existence. though they were paying in 

dirrerent ways. Evidently Foreseeing my answer 

to this. he continued that the ract one man was 

not getting more pay than another did not mean 

there would be no incentive f'or good work and 

greater errort--it meant only that incentive 

would be not money nor a sort seat. but pride in 

one's work. pride on doing a thing well. in work 

ror work's sake! 

One trait in common I noticed among these 

Commissars: they were all men who had more or 

less Fundamental qualities or leadership; not 

merely spellbinders. they invariably had a 

certain charm or simplicity and earnestness. Yet 

not one or them impressed me as believing what 

he said--all seemed stamped with the same mark 

or insincerity. But some of' the simpler 

soldiers. and the company leader who escorted me 

to town. really believed in the theory or "All 

-
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:for All" which they repeated over and over 

again. 

There appeared to be a discipline o:f sorts, 

perhaps not exactly the variety we are used to; 

though there was still some clicking o:f heels by 

orderlies, and salutes between o:f:ficers were 

numerous. Frequently authority appeared to rest 

with the one who could scream the loudest, but 

despite this, things were being done, there was 

a substitute sort o:f discipline, and some sort 

o:f organization was :functioning, apparently 

:functioning very well, considering the 

circumstances. I tried particularly to read in 

the :faces o:f the men I saw, some indication o:f 

what was the strength o:f this movement. For 

whatever one may say o:f it, and however 

conclusive the proof's against it, the simple 

:fact o:f its having arrived at its present 

position, however precarious, must mean it has a 

certain strength. But I could see no gleam o:f 

conviction, no inspiration o:f a great idea, 

nothing except a sort o:f :faith made up mostly o:f 

hope which some o:f the soldiers had in the "All 

:for All" idea. I could not get away :from my 

impression o:f the insincerity o:f the leaders, 

and lack o:f enthusiasm o:f their :followers. Yet 
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the Red f'orces have an organization that 

actually £'unctions. clumsily perhaps, 

undoubtedly with great waste, and certainly 

af'ter a f'ashion of' its own. but the wheels do· 

run even though they grind little meal. 

Hugo W. Koehler [6] 

In the days that f'ollowed Koehler's escape f'rom Odessa, 

Red radio broadcasts issued the obligatory charges that 

the Talbot had bombarded the Black Sea port, and accused 

Koehler of' being a spy f'or the British. [7] 

Four years af'ter the singular dialectic between two men 

f'rom worlds so vastly dif'f'erent. Edwin C. Denby, 

Secretary of' the Navy, received the f'ollowing letter: 

Dear Sir: 

I wish to describe to you a real, heroic act 
of' an Of'f'icer in your Navy. whose name I was 
fortunate enough to learn upon my return to the 
United States f'rom Russia. 

The story was as f'ollows--It happened in 
Odessa, Russia, in the month of' February, 1920. 
When Odessa was evacuated by the Allies, I 
happened to be sick in bed with pneumonia and 
tonsilitis, and I wrote a letter to the American 
Mission, imploring them to save me as I had 
suf'f'ered enough. Lieut. Foster who represented 
the American Mission came in answer to my 
letter, and he promised to take me with them. He 
railed to do so, however. as the Bolsheviki 
happened to get in [sooner than] expected. 

My suf'f'erings were indescribable when I round 
this out, and my surprise was_great, when four 
days later, one of' the neighbors ran into my 
room and said that an American Of'f'icer was 
coming up the stairs. looking f'or me. I could 

then 
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not believe my eyes when I beheld a tall man 
entering my room dressed in a black cloak, 
conveyed by two armed B'olshevists. 

Is it possible? An AMERICAN OFFICER, I 
exclaimed. When the American Officer, whose name 
I have been fortunate enough to learn--Lieut. 
Commander Hugo W. Koehler--came close, he said, 
"Yes, it is possible, here I am to help you, as 
I know you are sick." 

I broke down, crying like a child, and begged 
the kind officer to take me to America, to my 
Mother, as I had no one in Odessa but my beloved 
Husband's grave .... 

During the sad scene one or the armed 
Bolshevists took stations at the door, and the 
other, evidently knowing the English language, 
came closer to hear the conversation. Lieut. 
Commander Koehler tried to quiet me, explaining 
that he had orders to take the refugees to 
Constantinopie only. The neighbors, hearing 
this, advised me to remain, as I was too ill to 
travel. Lieut. Commander Koehler, also rinding 
this best, advised me to stay .... Thinking that 
I was in need, he offered me money ... and he 
assured me that I was not in danger, and if he 
round out that I was, he would come and take me 
with him. 

After he left, my friend explained to me that 
his [Koehler's] lire was in danger, as there was 
no government to be responsible if anything 
should happen to him. I worried very much about 
it, especially because he had risked his lire 
for me. The next day, I read the Bolshevist 
newspaper (which I have with me) which stated 
than an American Officer had been to see them 
regarding the foreigners. Learning that he had 
got away safely, I thanked God for sparing this 
Nobleman's lire, and also prayed to be in a 
position to come to the United States some day 
in order to rind Lieut. Commander Koehler and to 
thank him personally and to tell the world that 
there are still some noble and kind people, who 
will endanger their lives to help a little, weak 
woman, a mere stranger. 

Yours very truly, 

Annette Keyser [8] 
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The Secretary o-f the Navy added that Koehler's 

"chivalrous er-forts" were "the kind o-f service that makes 

lire worth while. " [8] 

In a letter to his mother, Koehler wrote: 

You heard did you not o-f my landing at Odessa 

after the Bolsheviks had taken it? I believe the 

State Department gave out some few details, for 

several people wrote that they had seen it in 

the London papers. But the aftermath was never 

published, for about a week after my return the 

Bolshevik Gov. sent a long wireless despatch to 

President Wilson and also to the League or 

Nations to the effect that although they had 

allowed me to leave only after my having given 

my word that I would not fire on the town, no 

sooner had I regained my ship than a murderous 

fire was opened up from our entire squadron and 

hundreds or innocent women and children were 

killed thereby. Or course the whole account was 

ridiculous--in the first place because our 

'entire squadron' consisted or one small torpedo 

boat destroyer, and in the second place, because 

not a single shot was fired. Inasmuch as we 

naturally knew this and would so inform Mr. 

Wilson, one might think it strange that the 

• 
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Bols. would lie so stupidly. But the answer is, 

that although the message was addressed to 

President Wilson and the League or Nations, the 

Bols. didn't care a hang whether the President· 

or the L. or N. ever saw it or what they thought 

or it, for the message was intended simply as 

propaganda for their own people. 

And incidentally. although this message 

described me as a very terrible and very wicked 

man, I've always been grateful to the Bols. for 

it, for in the light or these tactics I was able 

to understand many things not clear to me 

before. [10] 
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ENDNOTES 

McCully, Diary, 8 February 1920, McCully 
Mss/Library or Congress, Manuscripts Division (hereafter 
cited as McCul l y/..LC). 

2. An unedited version or Koehler's report can be round in 
Charles J. Weeks, Jr., and Joseph 0. Baylen, "The 
Aristocrat and the Bolshevik: Hugo Koehler and I.P. 
Uborevich, Odessa, 1920," Indiana Social Studies 
Quarterly, Vol. XXX, No. 1, Spring, 1977, p. 27-40. 
(herarter cited as Koehler and Uborevich.) Weeks and 
Baylen claim that Koehler went ashore with a party or 8 
men, but they misread McCully's diary on this crucial 
point. The diary actually reads: "At 9 a.m., sent Koehler 
& Yukovsky to lighthouse to arrange with lightkeeper to 
establish communications with shore & get Americans. Arter 
an hour or so this seemed arranged & Koehler & party or 8 
men met in friendly fashion & went up into town. [This 
sentence was interpreted as: "Arter an hour or so they 
seemed annoyed & Koehler and a party or 8 men met in 
formal (?) manner & went up into the town." The Honorable 
Claiborne Pell to the author, 15 November 1988.J 

"Koehler returned at 6 p.m., having had interview with 
Bolshevik General Uborevitch, and seen Mrs. [Eli] Keyser 
who was apparently unmolested, and having an assurance 
from Bolsehvik General that neither she nor other 
Americans would be molested." McCully/LC, 10 February 
1920. 

3. Ieronim Petrovich Uborevich (1896-1937), after 
distinguishing himself in the Russian Civil War, rose to 
become Army commander first-class in 1935. He was one or 
the prominent army commanders arrested and executed by 
Stalin during his purge or the top military leadership. 

A lieutenant in the Tsar's army, Uborevich after the 
Revolution joined the Reds and fought against Allied 
forces in northern Russia. Near the conclusion or the 
Civil War, just before Koehler met him, Uborevich 
commanded the Ninth (Kuban) Army in the Caucasus, and it 
was Uborevich's army that broke through the White lines 
near Nikolaiev and drove the resistance into the Crimea. 

An interesting counterpoint to Koehler's description or 
the General is provided by Joseph L. Wieczynski in Joseph 
L. Wieczynski, editor, The Modern Encyclopedia or 
Russian and Soviet History, Vol. 40, p. 138-140. (Gulf 
Breeze, Florida) 1985. (Hereafter cited as MERSH.) 

"Bespectacled and scholarly in his appearance, Uborevich 
became known as a dedicated military commander who dabbled 
in political affairs only when he felt constrained to 
defend the interests or the army. (He clashed heatedly 
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with Trotskii concerning the latter's proposals for 
reorganization or the Red Army.)" 

4. "This decoration was the Order or the Red Banner, at 
that time the highest Soviet military award." Koehler and 
Uborevich, p. 38. 

5. "Jacob H. Rubin, a representative or the Union Bank or 
Milwaukee in Odessa, later admitted that he had been a 
member or the American Socialist Party for twenty years. 
In 1821 he returned to the United States disenchanted with 
the Soviet regime ... [see] Jacob H. Rubin, I Live to 
Tell: The Russian Adventures or an American Socialist, 
(Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill, 1834)." Koehler and 
Uborevich, p. 38-40. 

6. Koehler to McCully, 10 February 1820, datelined: The 
Special Agent or the U.S. State Department, for Russia, 
Odessa, Russia. State Department DF 861.00/6648, NA. 

7. "The Bombardment or 
104-23, RG80, NA. 

8. Annette Keyser to Hon. 
datelined: Philadelphia, 

Odessa," n.d .. Planning Division 

Edwin C. Denby, 10 January 1824, 
PA, cited in Memoir, p. 117a. 

8. Edwin Denby to Hugo W. Koehler, 12 January 1824, cited 
in Memoir, p. 117a. Many years later, one or Admiral 
McCully's daughters, who knew Mrs. Keyser, remembered: 
"She told me ... how [Koehler] appeared just as she was 
about to swallow a fatal dose or poison to avoid being 
captured alive by the Bolsheviks coming into Odessa. He 
knocked on her apartment door and announced he was an 
American (although accompanied by two Bolsheviks) come to 
protect her. Mme. Keyser claimed that when she heard 
footsteps stop at her door, she was sure the end had come 
for her. Koehler convinced her it was wiser to remain in 
Odessa rather than join the masses fleeing out or the town 
onto overcrowded vessels, and assured her that, as an 
American citizen, she would not be bothered by the 
Bolsheviks. She spoke perfect English. having attended 
school in England, and so was able to converse with 
Koehler in both Russian and English. She did remain in 
Odessa, but came back to the U.S. the following year. When 
she was in Washington, she used to come to our house and 
play the piano, singing her composition, "The March or 
Freedom," dedicated to my rather and Commander Koehler." 
Memoir. p. 11 7. 

10. Hugo W. Koehler to Mathilda Koehler, 18 
cited in Memoir, p. 115-116. 

June 1820, 
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CHAPTER FIVE 

THE RIGHT PLACE 

NOVOROSSISK, RUSSIA 

MARCH, 1920 



-200-

Koehler and McCully returned to Sebastopol, where 

demoralized remnants or various White units wandered the 

streets. A certain Captain Orlov decided to lead a mutiny 

against Denikin by occupying Simreropol. He was 

eventually driven into the hills, where he reorgnized his 

band or mutineers and led a raid against Yalta. 

The Americans, arter a short visit to the Crimean rront 

at the Isthmus or Sivash, returned to Novorossisk on 20 

February. At the Black Sea port they saw only more 

surrering and disorganization, with the Russians employing 

morbid humor to comrort themselves. A Novorossisk paper in 

February 1920 published 'A New French Course'--a parody or 

the conventional phrase book dialogues. It concluded: 

Q. It is true that your uncle is a remarkable man? 
A. Yes, he is, indeed, a remarkable man. He has been ill 

once with ordinary typhus, twice with spotted typhus, and 
three times with recurrent typhus. He is impatiently 
waiting ror spring, in order to rall ill with cholera. 

Q. Do you like walking in the cemetery? 
A. Yes, I like walking in the cemetery, because all my 

Friends and acquaintances are there. The day berore 
yesterday my last friend in town died. In order not to 
have to visit the cemetery every day, and so wear out my 
last pair of' boots, I want to remove my residence to the 
sexton's quarters. [1] 

Rapidly losing control of' the situation, and with he 

fiasco or the Odessa evacuation weighing heavily upon him, 

Denikin lashed out at his subordinates, blamed Wrangel f'or 

the military setbacks, spread scurrilous rumours among 
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the British. But when Denikin banished Wrangel to 

Constantinople, the military situation only worsened. 

Denikin's last chance was to concentrate his forces in 

the Crimea and right it out there--a solution Wrangel had 

proposed in December and Denikin had rejected out or hand. 

Now it was his only hope or escape. But in December a 

retirement into the Crimea could have been covered in an 

orderly manner. Now in March at the port or Novorossisk, 

it was a disastrous headlong retreat. Denikin had made no 

provision for the sudden increase in refugees; families or 

White officers, as sure as those in Odessa or the rate 

that awaited them at the hands or the Reds, fought for 

space aboard freezing ships. "There were [also] Cossacks, 

nomad families with their black tents, Caucasian tribesmen 

and families from the Caspian shores. Their route was 

marked with bodies, stripped naked and frozen; dead 

horses, mules, and camels; abandoned guns, field-kitchens 

and vehicles, together with all the debris or an army in 

flight. " [2] Denikin was forced to appeal to the Royal 

Navy for enough ships to evacuate the populace and the 

Army. 

To the Secretary or State, McCully spelled out the 

indictment or Denikin's leadership. "During his advance in 

the fall or 1919 Denikin's forces were welcomed with 

flowers, this reeling changing within a month to 

detestation .... " 
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With good will everywhere evident personally 

toward the General ... there was every reason 

f'or him to win, time and time again. in each 

case suf'f'ering def'eat instead. due to his 

political ineptitude. He realizes his mistakes 

af'terwards, publicly conf'esses them, prof'esses 

to ref'orm, and then repeats the same 

mistakes .... 

The old Imperial Military f'orms were retained. 

much attention is given to saluting. and 

subordinates and private soldiers were punished 

with death f'or military of'f'enses which could be 

dealt with otherwise, while high ranking 

of'f'icers who show inef'f'iciency or betray their 

trust are dealt with leniently. in cases even 

being promoted ... 

The evacuation [of' Odessa] was unnecessary and 

due to incapacity and cowardice of' the of'ficer 

commanding. General Shilling. who £'ailed to 

organize means of' def'ense bef'ore the city was 

attacked. Even before his troops had ever been 

in conf'lict with the numerically inferior enemy. 

Shilling himself' was f'irst to abandon the town. 

This incapable officer was retained by General 

Denikin as Commander-in-Chief' of' the Crimea. 
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even a:fter a protest by principal officers of' 

the Russian Army and Navy, who were themselves 

relieved from their duties 

protest .. 

f'or making the 

The evacuation was carried out without any 

order or plan, nearly altogether in Russian 

vessels, the British Naval Authorities employing 

such means as could be round, and meriting 

principal credit f'or any good accomplished. 

Weather was very severe, temperatures ranging 

from minus 5 degrees to plus 20 degrees, with 

fresh winds and rough seas. Helpless refugees 

had to remain afloat under these conditions f'or 

days without fuel, water, medical attendance, or 

provisions. When loading the ships, it was at 

one time necessary to spray machine guns on 

masses of' refugees, men, women, and children, to 

prevent them rushing already overloaded vessels. 

On board the Vladimir, a 6700 ton vessel, were 

nearly 7000 refugees f'or over a week. Conditions 

accompanying this evacuation were a reproach to 

all so-called civilized Powers. On evacuation, 

the storehouses at Odessa were lef't f'ull of' 

wheat, barley, wool, bristles, and other 

valuable 

Northern 

stores. 

Crimea 

Although White Forces in 

were holding their own, 
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weaknesses in command, communications, and 

supply, indicated the organization could not 

remain e:f:fective :for long, and promises little 

hope o:f a de:finite result in :favor o:f the· 

Whites. The rear was hopelessly paralyzed, and 

no authority seemed capable 

situation .... 

During these events there 

Crimea General Wrangel, who 

o:f remedying the 

arrived. in the 

had :first been 

appointed Commander-in-Chie:f o:f the Armies in 

the Field a:fter the reverses o:f 1919, and who 

shortly a:fter resigned this post on account o:f 

di:f:ferences with General Denikin. A movement 

began in the Crimea involving most o:f the Army 

and Navy to get rid o:f -General Shilling, on 

account o:f the general lack o:f con:fidence in 

him, and to substitute :for him General Wrangel. 

However Wrangel would not consent to act against 

General Denikin, who nevertheless requested him 

to leave Russia, which Wrangel promptly did .... 

As the American mission returned to Novorossisk, they 

:found the port city ":flooded with re:fugees :from Kharhov 

and Rostov." 

All matters o:f administration were in a state 

o:f disorganization, the streets were :full o:f 
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skulkers rrom Denikin's Army, mostly orricers, 

and no authority had any control over them. No 

one would work even to provide himselr with 

rood, and the reeling everywhere was panicky .... 

A chicken in the market cost 600 roubles, 

while the pay or General Denikin himselr was 

6000 roubles per month, and the Minister or 

Foreign Afrairs, Mr. Neratov, lived, ate, and 

slept in a corner or a Bank orrice .... 

On March 17, Ekaterinodar, capitol or Kuban 

Province about 80 miles to north eastward or 

Novorossisk, had been captured by Reds, and it 

was evident that Novorossisk would soon rall .... 

On March 26, Red rorces appeared in vicinity 

or Novorossisk, advancing along the railway, and 

shelling Denikin detachments in the outskirts or 

the town. The British battleship Emperor or 

India and cruiser CalyPso, and French cruiser 

Waldeck Rousseau used their heavy guns 

throughout the day to cover retreat or Denikin 

rorces, but Red rorces remained well under 

cover, advancing all the time, and the rire rrom 

Naval Vessels did not seem errective. Through 

Novorossisk moved a constant stream or 

retreating troops mingled with rerugees, soon 

causing a jammed mass or people along the entire 
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waterrront or the city ror three miles. On the 

piers troops began throwing overboard rorage 

carts, automobiles, bicycles, machine guns, 

ammunition, and other military material.· 

Thousands or horses were turned loose to wander 

aimlessly about the streets. Nearly all 

artillery had to be abandoned. 

Everywhere was gross disorganization~ 

people and troops were remarkably patient 

the 

but 

and 

selr-restrained and there was no serious 

disorder. During the day the storehouses along 

the waterrront were set on rire and burned day 

and night. Water transportation was entirely 

insurricient although everything that could 

rloat was pressed into service. Everything was 

packed to the limit, one 3000 ton steamer being 

stated orricially to have embarked 7600 people 

at one time. Fortunately weather was calm and 

mild, otherwise some or the means or transport 

would undoubtedly have roundered. 

The evacuation continued all through March 26, 

and the night or March 26 to 27, but there still 

remained about ten thousand troops and a large 

number or refugees who had to be abandoned .... 

[3] 
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Luckett puts the total number of troops abandoned at 

Novorossisk closer to 22,000, 

officers shot themselves on the 

to s-wim out to the ships." [4] 

adding that: "Several 

quay; more drowned trying 

In a letter to his mother, Koehler described the drama 

he -watched played out from his vantage point 

U.S.S. Galve3ton. 

aboard the 

March 26-27, 1920 

Novorossisk 

The evacuation of Novorossisk has been been 

going on for several days. Many ships had 

already left, carrying officer's families, sick 

and -wounded officers and a few civilians. Most 

had gone to the Crimea, but many, especially 

-women and children, had been taken on British 

and American ships, as refugees to the camps 

just established on the several Princess 

Islands, just off South Constantinople. 

All week, troops from the fading front poured 

into the town but, instead of being organized 

for defense, they were embarked on ships and 

sent to the Crimea as 

early became evident 

rapidly as possible. It 

that no hope was held for 

making a stand in this section and the date of 

the fall or Novorossisk depended entirely on how 
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quickly Reds could bring any considerable force 

against the town. 

On Monday, March 22nd, the Bolshevik radio 

station in Moscow broadcast the information that· 

their army would take Novorossisk on Saturday 

the 27th. Nevertheless, few believed it could be 

accomplished so soon and even lawless elements 

in town, who customarily rob, plunder, and carry 

on other excesses in such critical times, 

remained in the background and quiet. 

Thursday night it was reported that Bolsheviks 

had completely surrounded the town, occupying 

principal points in the hills which encircle the 

city and bay. Ships alongside the docks were 

rapidly boarded by those fortunate ones assigned 

to go and many vessels, including the ship 

carrying officials or the government, sailed 

during the night. 

Friday morning broke calm and clear and 

conditions appeared to be no different from on 

the proceeding day. The American cruiser, 

u. s. s. Galveston, flying the flag or Rear 

Admiral McCully U.S.N. lay Just orr the docks. 

In addition to several Russian merchant ships, 

righting ships or England, France, and Italy lay 

peacefully in the inner harbor. Outside in the 


